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ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Whether the trial court erred by ruling the State did not violate the discovery statutes by failing to disclose that Ms. West would testify fentanyl was an opiate, which was the central issue at trial?
II. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by ruling Ms. West was qualified to testify fentanyl was an opiate?
III. Whether the trial court plainly erred by allowing Ms. West to testify fentanyl was an opiate where her opinion was unreliable?
IV. Whether the trial court erred by denying Mr. Gibbs’s motion to dismiss the charge of resisting, delaying, or obstructing an officer?
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
On 14 January 2019, Mr. Gibbs was indicted for two counts of resisting a public officer, trafficking in four grams or more but less than fourteen grams of “opiates” by possession, possession with intent to sell and deliver “fentanyl,” and possession of drug paraphernalia. (Rp 12) Mr. Gibbs’s trial began on 19 September 2019 in New Hanover County Superior Court, the Honorable Joshua W. Willey presiding. On 23 September 2019, the trial court dismissed one count of resisting a public officer. (Rp 45) On 24 September 2019, a jury found Mr. Gibbs guilty of the remaining charges. (Rpp 59-60) The trial court sentenced Mr. Gibbs to a consolidated term of seventy to ninety-three months. (Rpp 61-63) Mr. Gibbs appealed. (Rpp 64-66)
GROUNDS FOR APPELLATE REVIEW
The ground for review is a final judgment of the Superior Court under N.C.G.S. §15A-1444(a) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §15A-1444(a)" \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-1444(a)" \c 2 .
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

The State indicted Mr. Gibbs for trafficking in “opiates by possessing 4 grams or more but less than 14 grams of opiates” on 7 April 2018. (Rp 12) On that date, Officer Carlton Wells and Deputy Brandon Gueiss saw a person walking quickly in the Hillcrest Housing Community at 11:26 p.m. The person knocked on a door and no one answered. (Tpp 66-68) The officers did not observe any illegal behavior, but “had a hunch that illegal activity may be occurring.” (Tp 134)
Deputy Gueiss approached the person and asked for his name and identification. The person did not have identification, but said his name was Kevin Mosley. Deputy Gueiss radioed that information to Officer Wells, who did not find anyone with that name matching the person’s description and thought it was probably a false name. He approached. (Tpp 69-71, 290)
The person was calm and did not try to flee. He said he was “[t]rying to go to his girl’s house.” (Tpp 139-40) At some point, he took off his backpack and set it on the ground. He pulled out his cell phone and started talking to someone and walking around. (Tpp 72, 140, 291) He said, “I’m at your front door, back door, one of the two, and telling the person to open the door.” (Tp 73) 
The officers still had not seen any criminal behavior, but Officer Wells testified, “I had reasonable suspicion to believe that something was – a crime was either being committed or about to be committed.” Officer Wells continued, “He was in a high crime area late at night knocking on a door and not gaining access to the door.” (Tpp 140-41) Deputy Gueiss testified the officers “asked again for his identification and he didn’t respond at all. And at this point he started to walk away, threw his hands up in the air, said, ‘I got my hands up,’ and then took off running as I went to detain him.” (Tp 291) Officer Wells testified the person ran “as soon as Deputy Gueiss began to grab” him. (Tpp 72-73)  

The officers lost the person and returned to the backpack. They “noticed what appeared to be a controlled substance” inside and took the backpack to the police station. (Tpp 73-74) They later found identification cards and pieces of mail with the name Montez Gibbs inside and arrested Mr. Gibbs a few weeks later. (Tpp 83, 100, 158-59, 198) The officers requested the substance be tested for the presence of a controlled substance. (Tp 124)
Prior to trial, the State gave notice that Jennifer West may be called as an expert witness and provided Ms. West’s CV and laboratory report “pursuant to N.C.G.S. §15A-903 et seq[.]” (Rpp 13, 39-44) Ms. West’s laboratory report stated the substance contained “Fentanyl – Schedule II” and weighed “11.96 (+/- 0.05) grams.” The laboratory report did not state whether the substance was an opiate or an opioid. (Rp 43)
Just before trial, the State asserted, “Judge, the last matter that the State would like an advisory opinion of is the issue concerning the trafficking statute at the time.” (Tp 10) The State asserted that before 1 December 2018, the trafficking statute punished possession of four grams or more of “opium or opiate” but after that date, the statute punished possession of four grams or more of “opium, opiate, or opioid[.]” The State further asserted, “There’s a split amongst the scientific community regarding the language ‘opioids’ and ‘opiates.’” According to the State, some scientists referred to opiates as naturally occurring substances and opioids as synthetic materials, but other scientists used the terms “interchangeably[.]”
 The trial judge then stated, “And fentanyl would clearly be an opioid under any definition… It may or may not under the ‘opiate’ definition.” The State responded, “Correct, Judge.” (Tp 11)
Defense counsel asserted, “I don’t know what the expert’s going to say in this case whether or not fentanyl is, but I think it’s an issue of fact to decide later for the jury.” (Tp 14) The trial court then asked the State, “don’t we need to wait and see what the testimony is in the case?” The State responded, “There’s no special type of fentanyl here. I think either it applies to the statute or not. The State just doesn’t want to waste two days of testimony if the court finds it doesn’t apply and trafficking can’t be permitted.” (Tp 15) The trial court then stated, “I really think I need to know if the expert is going to say it’s an opiate derivative[,]” and the State responded, “That’s fine, Judge. I have not talked to the expert about this particular issue but again I think different experts use different terminology for that.” (Tp 18) The trial court stated it would let the case go to the jury if the expert testified fentanyl was “a derivative[.]” (Tp 18)
During trial, Ms. West testified she had a bachelor’s degree in chemistry from UNC Pembroke and a master’s degree in chemistry from UNC Charlotte and had been a forensic drug chemist at the North Carolina State Crime Lab for almost sixteen years. She analyzed items of evidence for the presence or absence of controlled substances. She had worked on approximately 12,000 cases. She also participated in continuing education and proficiency tests and had qualified as an expert in forensic drug chemistry about 100 times. (Tpp 199-202) The State introduced Ms. West’s CV. (Tp 203; Rpp 39-42)

Ms. West testified she had experience identifying fentanyl. When the State asked, “Is fentanyl an opiate?” Defense counsel stated, “Objection. Beyond the scope.” The trial court excused the jury. (Tp 207)   

Defense counsel argued that under N.C.G.S. §15A-903(a)(2), the State must provide notice of an expert’s opinion and the underlying basis for that opinion. While the State provided Ms. West’s laboratory report, which identified the substance as fentanyl, a Schedule II controlled substance, the State did not disclose Ms. West would testify whether fentanyl was an opiate. The defense further argued that whether the substance was an opiate was “getting into neuropharmacology mechanisms of the brain” and did not fall within her expertise. (Tpp 208-09) 
The State responded, “Again the CV was disclosed, and there’s talk of discussion of opioid courses she’s done in the CV[.]” The Defense replied, “That’s not disclosure of the scope of her testimony and expertise[,]” and, 

Here’s the exact point is I don’t know what she’s going to say as far as opiate, opium, opioid. I don’t know that ahead of time. That’s kind of the whole point of the disclosure. So if it’s said fentanyl, opiate, or opiate derivative ahead of time then okay, we can find somebody else to come in and say that.
(Tpp 210-11)


The parties then held a voir dire of Ms. West. On voir dire, Ms. West testified she determined the substance was “material containing fentanyl[.]” (Tp 212) She also testified, “Opiate originally was supposed to be defined as substances that mimic the effects; i.e., addiction, hit the same receptors, things such as that, as opium-type compounds do. So for example, that was your methadone, that was your fentanyl, and that was your meperidine.” She continued, “Those substances hit the same receptors but did not have the same structure as the opium or opium derivatives or things such as that.” (Tp 213) She also testified fentanyl was a synthetic substance and “is classified now as an opioid. An opioid kind of encompasses – how do I say this. Opioids can be opiates, but all opiates aren’t opioids. The classification has gotten very muddy over time.” (Tp 216)

Ms. West also testified on voir dire, “Based on my training and experience, I would define [fentanyl] as an opiate,” and, “I don’t think it’s incorrect to classify it as an opiate.” (Tpp 217-19) She also testified that fentanyl met the definition of opiate in N.C.G.S. §90-87(18), as “any substance having an addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability similar to morphine or being capable of conversion into a drug having addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability.” (Tp 220)


When asked, “What do you understand to be the addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability of an opiate? What’s your training on that?” Ms. West testified,

As part of the training, the receptor sites that the opiates or certain compounds are shown to attack are gone over. I don’t have specifics about those sorts of things. I’m not a doctor or anything like that and I’m not claiming to be at all. I have a general overview of that type of thing.
(Tp 221) 
Defense counsel then asked whether Ms. West had “ever been tendered as an expert in discussing addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liabilities similar to morphine to be able to discuss stuff like that?” Ms. West responded, “I mean, throughout the training, there are all kinds of things discussing potency, discussing things such as that. There’s nothing specifically that talks about addiction-forming or sustaining liability in those words.” She then clarified that she had never been tendered or accepted as an expert in that area. (Tpp 221-22)

The trial court recessed court for the weekend and defense counsel stated, “I will brief it over the weekend, Judge.” (Tpp 223-25) When court resumed on Monday, defense counsel stated, “I had objected on the grounds that the testimony that was being offered went beyond the scope of that which was given notice.” Defense counsel stated he filed a trial brief. (Tp 229) 
In the trial brief, the defense argued that “while the State disclosed a report of the results of West’s testing of the substance, as well as West’s curriculum vitae, the State did not indicate that West would be offering an opinion that Fentanyl is classified as ‘opiate’ or an ‘opioid’, which is the central issue to the determination of this case.” (Rp 29) Defense counsel argued that “failure to disclose the fact that West had formed an opinion regarding whether or not fentanyl is an opiate, renders such opinion testimony inadmissible, and that allowing such testimony will cause prejudice to Defendant.” (Rp 29) Defense counsel relied upon N.C.G.S. §15A-903(a)(2) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §15A-903(a)(2)" \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-903(a)(2)" \c 2  and State v. Davis, 368 N.C. 794, 785 S.E.2d 312 (2016). (Rpp 30-31; Tp 229) TA \l "State v. Davis, 368 N.C. 794, 785 S.E.2d 312 (2016). (Rpp 30-31; Tp 229)" \s "State v. Davis, 368 N.C. 794, 785 S.E.2d 312 (2016). (Rpp 30-31; Tp 229)" \c 1 
Defense counsel also argued, “West’s voir dire testimony established that she is neither qualified nor able to offer testimony whether Fentanyl is an ‘opiate’ or ‘opioid’ as defined by law.” (Rp 31) Because Ms. West could not testify that fentanyl had addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability similar to morphine, “she must be prohibited from offering any conclusory opinion that fentanyl is an opiate as such testimony is not based on any [‘]scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge’, and does not qualify as expert testimony. See §8C-1, Rule 702.” (Rpp 33-34; Tpp 229-32)
The trial court ruled, 
Well, with respect to the notice issue, court finds that the lab report that was provided to the defense clearly indicated that Ms. West had examined the submitted substance and found it to be fentanyl, a Schedule II controlled substance. Her CV clearly indicates that she is a – would qualify as an expert in forensic chemistry. The statute in effect at the time that defines Schedule II controlled substance, I think the correct statute is number – Chapter 90, Section 90, defines Schedule II controlled substances as being any of the following opiates, including then subsection H, fentanyl. 
So in light of the statute which said that fentanyl was included as an opiate, it’s the court’s opinion, the court’s ruling that this notice was adequate to give notice the proposed witness would testify.
(Tpp 235-36) The trial court further ruled that Ms. West was qualified to testify about whether fentanyl was an opiate. (Tp 240)


Before the jury, the State tendered Ms. West as an “expert in forensic chemistry specializing in chemical analysis of controlled substances.” Defense counsel renewed his objection and the trial court overruled it. (Tp 243)


Ms. West then testified the substance she tested contained fentanyl, a Schedule II controlled substance. (Tpp 248, 256) When the State asked, “Is there a classification of fentanyl as a drug in addition to Schedule II controlled substance?” defense counsel renewed his “objection earlier this morning”; “The very early one.” The trial court overruled the objection. (Tp 259) Ms. West testified, “So the North Carolina General Statutes is –” Defense counsel objected, and the trial court asked the State to rephrase its question. The State then asked, “Is there a specific drug category that fentanyl falls into?” Ms. West testified, “It is a narcotic drug and it falls into the category of opiate, opium, or opioid.” Defense counsel again raised the “same objection” and the trial court overruled it. Ms. West then testified that “fentanyl is considered an opiate.” (Tpp 259-60) 
When asked on cross-examination, “You’re not able to speak to the addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability of opiates, are you?” Ms. West testified, “No, I do not have – I don’t have any specialized training. I have taken classes that speak to that stuff.” (Tp 280) Ms. West further testified she could not testify to the effects of synthetic drugs. (Tp 280) On redirect examination, Ms. West testified that fentanyl was both an opiate and an opioid. (Tp 282)


 After the close of all the evidence, the trial court instructed the jury that Mr. Gibbs had been charged with “trafficking in an (sic) mixture containing an opiate which is the unlawful possession of four grams or more but less than 14 grams of a mixture of an opiate.” The trial court instructed that to find Mr. Gibbs guilty, the jury must find that he “knowingly possessed a mixture containing an opiate” and “that the amount of the mixture containing the opiate which the defendant possessed was 4 or more grams but less than 14 grams.” (Rpp 53-54; Tpp 377-78) The jury found Mr. Gibbs “Guilty of trafficking by possession of 4 grams or more but less than 14 grams of an Opiate[.]” The jury also found Mr. Gibbs guilty of possession with intent to sell or deliver fentanyl, resisting, obstructing, and delaying a public officer, and possession of drug paraphernalia. (Rpp 59-60)
STANDARDS OF REVIEW
As to Issue I, the question of whether the State complied with its discovery obligation to disclose the expert’s opinion and the basis for the opinion “is one of statutory interpretation which [the appellate courts] review de novo[.]” State v. Davis, 368 N.C. 794, 797, 785 S.E.2d 312, 314-15 (2016) TA \l "State v. Davis, 368 N.C. 794, 797, 785 S.E.2d 312, 314-15 (2016)" \s "State v. Davis, 368 N.C. 794, 797, 785 S.E.2d 312, 314-15 (2016)" \c 1 . “‘Because the court failed to find the violation, … and consequently failed to exercise its discretion, the ruling is reviewable.’” Id. at 797, 785 S.E.2d at 315 TA \l "Id. at 797, 785 S.E.2d at 315" \s "Id. at 797, 785 S.E.2d at 315" \c 1  (citation omitted). Under de novo review, this Court considers the matter anew and freely substitutes its own judgment for that of the lower court. State v. Williams, 362 N.C. 628, 632-33, 609 S.E.2d 290, 294 (2008) TA \l "State v. Williams, 362 N.C. 628, 632-33, 609 S.E.2d 290, 294 (2008)" \s "State v. Williams, 362 N.C. 628, 632-33, 609 S.E.2d 290, 294 (2008)" \c 1 . 
As to Issue II, whether a witness was qualified to testify as an expert witness is reviewed for abuse of discretion, which results where the ruling was manifestly unsupported by reason. State v. McGrady, 368 N.C. 880, 893, 787 S.E.2d 1, 11 (2016) TA \l "State v. McGrady, 368 N.C. 880, 893, 787 S.E.2d 1, 11 (2016)" \s "State v. McGrady, 368 N.C. 880, 893, 787 S.E.2d 1, 11 (2016)" \c 1 . In the alternative as to Issues I and II, and as to Issue III, unpreserved evidentiary error is reviewed for plain error, which results where a fundamental error had a probable impact on the jury’s verdict. State v. Lawrence, 365 N.C. 506, 518, 723 S.E.2d 326, 334 (2012) TA \l "State v. Lawrence, 365 N.C. 506, 518, 723 S.E.2d 326, 334 (2012)" \s "State v. Lawrence, 365 N.C. 506, 518, 723 S.E.2d 326, 334 (2012)" \c 1 . 
As to Issue IV, the denial of a motion to dismiss is reviewed de novo. State v. Bagley, 183 N.C. App. 514, 523, 644 S.E.2d 615, 621 (2007) TA \l "State v. Bagley, 183 N.C. App. 514, 523, 644 S.E.2d 615, 621 (2007)" \s "State v. Bagley, 183 N.C. App. 514, 523, 644 S.E.2d 615, 621 (2007)" \c 1 .
ARGUMENT

The first three issues all deal with the trial court’s admission of Ms. West’s expert testimony that fentanyl was an opiate. The trial court erred by allowing Ms. West to testify fentanyl was an opiate because (1) the State did not disclose that opinion or its basis in discovery, (2) she was not qualified to give that opinion, and (3) her testimony was unreliable. Ms. West’s testimony was crucial to the State’s case. The trafficking statute in effect on the date of offense only prohibited possession of opiates, not opioids, which were added to the trafficking statute later that year. The State therefore indicted Mr. Gibbs for trafficking in opiates and the trial court instructed the jury it had to find Mr. Gibbs possessed opiates. If Ms. West had not testified fentanyl was an opiate, the trial court likely would have granted a motion to dismiss or the jury would have acquitted. Mr. Gibbs should therefore receive a new trial for trafficking in opiates.
I. The trial court erred by ruling the State did not violate the discovery statutes by failing to disclose that Ms. West would testify fentanyl was an opiate, which was the central issue at trial. 


The State failed to disclose that Ms. West would testify fentanyl was an opiate, as well as any basis for that opinion. Nevertheless, the trial court ruled the State did not violate the discovery statutes because the Schedule II statute in effect at the time defined fentanyl as an opiate and because the expert’s CV indicated she would qualify as an expert in forensic chemistry. The trial court was mistaken on both grounds. Thus, the trial court erred by admitting the undisclosed expert testimony. Moreover, without the erroneous admission of expert testimony that fentanyl was an opiate, the trial court likely would have granted a motion to dismiss the trafficking charge or the jury would have acquitted. Accordingly, Mr. Gibbs should receive a new trial.
A. The defense repeatedly argued the State violated its discovery obligations, thereby preserving this issue for appeal.
Prior to trial, the State gave notice that Jennifer West may be called as an expert witness and provided Ms. West’s CV and laboratory report “pursuant to N.C.G.S. §15A-903 et seq[.]” (Rp 13, Rpp 39-44) Ms. West’s report stated the substance contained “Fentanyl – Schedule II.” The report did not state whether the substance was an opiate or an opioid. (Rp 43)

At trial, the State asked Ms. West, “Is fentanyl an opiate?” Defense counsel objected in front of the jury because the testimony was beyond the scope of discovery provided by the State. (Tp 207) Defense counsel argued that under N.C.G.S. §15A-903(a)(2) TA \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-903(a)(2)" , the State must provide notice of an expert’s opinion and the underlying basis for that opinion. While the State provided Ms. West’s report, which identified the substance as fentanyl, a Schedule II controlled substance, the State did not disclose that Ms. West would testify about whether fentanyl was an opiate. (Tpp 208-09) Defense counsel then repeatedly objected on this ground outside the presence of the jury and during voir dire of Ms. West (Tpp 208-223, 229-32), in a written trial brief (Rpp 29-35), and again when Ms. West testified in front of the jury that fentanyl was an opiate. (Tpp 259-61) The defense also objected when the State proffered Ms. West as an expert in forensic chemistry. (Tp 243) The trial court overruled all of the objections and explained its reasoning on the record. (Tpp 235-36) Defense counsel did not object again when Ms. West testified on redirect that fentanyl was both an opiate and an opioid. (Tp 282)


In State v. Phillips, 836 S.E.2d 866 (N.C. Ct. App. 2019) TA \l "State v. Phillips, 836 S.E.2d 866 (N.C. Ct. App. 2019)" \s "State v. Phillips, 836 S.E.2d 866 (N.C. Ct. App. 2019)" \c 1 , the defendant first objected to the contested evidence in the jury’s presence, and the trial court overruled the objection. Id. at 870, 873 TA \l "Id. at 870, 873" \s "Id. at 870, 873" \c 1 . The parties then held a voir dire of the witness and the defendant again objected. At the conclusion of voir dire, the trial court ruled the objection would “‘continue to be overruled[.]’” Id. at 872, 873. The defendant did not object when the witness testified to the contested evidence in front of the jury. Id. at 872. Nevertheless, this Court held, “Defendant’s objection was timely made, renewed and preserved for appellate review.” Id. at 873.

As in Phillips, the defense repeatedly objected to Ms. West’s testimony that fentanyl was an opiate both in front of the jury and outside the jury’s presence. Therefore, Mr. Gibbs’s “objection was timely made, renewed and preserved for appellate review.” Id. at 873 TA \l "Id. at 873" \s "Id. at 873" \c 1 . 

Mr. Gibbs’s objection was also preserved under N.C.G.S. §15A-1446(d)(10) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §15A-1446(d)(10)" \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-1446(d)(10)" \c 2  and N.C.G.S. §8C-1, Rule 103(a)(2) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §8C-1, Rule 103(a)(2)" \s "N.C.G.S. §8C-1, Rule 103(a)(2)" \c 2 . These statutes do not conflict with N.C. R. App. P. 10(a)(1) TA \l "N.C. R. App. P. 10(a)(1)" \s "N.C. R. App. P. 10(a)(1)" \c 4 , which provides that an issue “which by rule or law was deemed preserved or taken without any such action … may be made the basis of an issue presented on appeal.” Decisions holding that Rule 103(a)(2) TA \l "Rule 103(a)(2)" \s "Rule 103(a)(2)" \c 4  conflicts with Rule 10(a)(1) TA \l "Rule 10(a)(1)" \s "Rule 10(a)(1)" \c 4 , like State v. Oglesby, 361 N.C. 550, 648 S.E.2d 819 (2007) TA \l "State v. Oglesby, 361 N.C. 550, 648 S.E.2d 819 (2007)" \s "State v. Oglesby, 361 N.C. 550, 648 S.E.2d 819 (2007)" \c 1 , are distinguishable because they did not address this argument that “the Supreme Court, via its Appellate Rules, has expressly permitted the General Assembly to enact ‘rules or laws’ that automatically preserve such errors for review on appeal.” 1-4 North Carolina Appellate Practice and Procedure § 4.05 (2018) TA \l "1-4 North Carolina Appellate Practice and Procedure § 4.05 (2018)" \s "1-4 North Carolina Appellate Practice and Procedure § 4.05 (2018)" \c 3 . 

However, if this Court determines Mr. Gibbs did not adequately renew his discovery objection, the admission of Ms. West’s testimony that fentanyl was an opiate amounted to plain error.
B. The State violated the discovery statutes by failing to disclose that its expert would testify fentanyl was an opiate.
“Upon motion of the defendant, the court must order: … (2) The prosecuting attorney to give notice to the defendant of any expert witnesses that the State reasonably expects to call as a witness at trial.” N.C.G.S. §15A-903(a)(2) TA \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-903(a)(2)" . The statute further provides, “Each such witness shall prepare, and the State shall furnish to the defendant, a report of the results of any examinations or tests conducted by the expert. The State shall also furnish to the defendant the expert’s curriculum vitae, the expert’s opinion, and the underlying basis for that opinion.” Id. “In addition, once the State voluntarily provides discovery pursuant to section 15A-902(a), the discovery provided to defendant ‘shall be to the same extent as required by subsection (a)’ of section 15A-903.” State v. Blankenship, 178 N.C. App. 351, 353, 631 S.E.2d 208, 210 (2006) TA \l "State v. Blankenship, 178 N.C. App. 351, 353, 631 S.E.2d 208, 210 (2006)" \s "State v. Blankenship, 178 N.C. App. 351, 353, 631 S.E.2d 208, 210 (2006)" \c 1  (citing N.C.G.S. §15A-903(b) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §15A-903(b)" \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-903(b)" \c 2 ). “Also, once a party, or the State has provided discovery there is a continuing duty to provide discovery and disclosure.” Id. at 354, 631 S.E.2d at 210 TA \l "Id. at 354, 631 S.E.2d at 210" \s "Id. at 354, 631 S.E.2d at 210" \c 1  (citing N.C.G.S. § 15A-907 TA \l "N.C.G.S. § 15A-907" \s "N.C.G.S. § 15A-907" \c 2 ).

In State v. Davis, 368 N.C. 794, 785 S.E.2d 312 (2016) TA \l "State v. Davis, 368 N.C. 794, 785 S.E.2d 312 (2016)" \s "State v. Davis, 368 N.C. 794, 785 S.E.2d 312 (2016)" \c 1 , cited by defense counsel at trial, the State tendered an expert in child and adolescent psychiatry and an expert in mental health counseling without objection. However, when both testified “regarding the characteristics of child sexual abuse victims and potential reasons for delayed reporting of allegations of abuse[,]” the defendant objected, citing the State’s “failure to provide discovery per N.C.G.S. §15A-903(a)(2)[.]” Id. at 795, 785 S.E.2d at 313-14 TA \l "Id. at 795, 785 S.E.2d at 313-14" \s "Id. at 795, 785 S.E.2d at 313-14" \c 1 . The trial court overruled the objections. Id. at 796, 785 S.E.2d at 314 TA \l "Id. at 796, 785 S.E.2d at 314" \s "Id. at 796, 785 S.E.2d at 314" \c 1 .  
Our Supreme Court found that “both witnesses offered expert opinion testimony about the characteristics of child sexual abuse victims[,]” id. at 799, 785 S.E.2d at 315 TA \l "id. at 799, 785 S.E.2d at 315" \s "id. at 799, 785 S.E.2d at 315" \c 1 , and “both experts also offered expert opinion testimony explaining why a child might delay reporting abuse.” Id. at 802, 785 S.E.2d at 317. Thus, our Supreme Court held “the State failed to comply with N.C.G.S. §15A-903(a)(2) when responding to defendant’s motion for discovery by failing to turn over all the information required by that statute.” Id. at 808, 785 S.E.2d at 321 TA \l "Id. at 808, 785 S.E.2d at 321" \s "Id. at 808, 785 S.E.2d at 321" \c 1 . Accordingly, the trial court erred by admitting the undisclosed expert testimony. Id.  
Likewise, when Ms. West attempted to testify regarding whether fentanyl was an opiate, the defense repeatedly argued any such testimony was inadmissible because the State failed to disclose that opinion and its underlying basis. (Tpp 207-11, 229; Rpp 29-35) Because the State had provided Ms. West’s lab report and CV, it had a continuing duty to disclose any other expert opinion and its basis. See Blankenship, 178 N.C. App. at 354, 631 S.E.2d at 210 TA \l "Blankenship, 178 N.C. App. at 354, 631 S.E.2d at 210" \s "Blankenship, 178 N.C. App. at 354, 631 S.E.2d at 210" \c 1  (citing N.C.G.S. §15A-907 TA \l "N.C.G.S. §15A-907" \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-907" \c 2 ). The trial court overruled the objections and allowed Ms. West to opine that fentanyl was an opiate. (Tpp 235-36, 259-60) However, because the State failed to disclose that Ms. West would testify fentanyl was an opiate, as well as any basis for that opinion, the State failed to comply with its discovery obligations. Thus, the trial court erred by admitting the undisclosed expert testimony. Id. at 808, 785 S.E.2d at 321 TA \s "Id. at 808, 785 S.E.2d at 321" . 
In overruling Mr. Gibbs’s objection, the trial court ruled that because the version of N.C.G.S. §90-90 TA \l "N.C.G.S. §90-90" \s "N.C.G.S. §90-90" \c 2  “in effect at the time … said that fentanyl was included as an opiate, it’s the court’s opinion, the court’s ruling that this notice was adequate to give notice the proposed witness would testify.” (Tpp 235-36) The trial court was mistaken. Effective 1 December 2017, our General Assembly amended N.C.G.S. §90-90(2) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §90-90(2)" \s "N.C.G.S. §90-90(2)" \c 2  to provide, “The following controlled substances are included in this schedule: … (2) Any of the following opiates or opioids … h. Fentanyl.” 2017 N.C. Sess. Laws 115, ss. 4, 12 TA \l "2017 N.C. Sess. Laws 115, ss. 4, 12" \s "2017 N.C. Sess. Laws 115, ss. 4, 12" \c 2  (emphasis added). At the same time, the General Assembly added a definition of “Opioid” as “any synthetic narcotic drug having opiate-like activities but is not derived from opium.” Id.; N.C.G.S. §90-87(18a) (2017) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §90-87(18a) (2017)" \s "N.C.G.S. §90-87(18a) (2017)" \c 2 . Thus, at the time of the offense on 7 April 2018, at the time of Ms. West’s analysis in April 2019, and at the time of trial in September 2019, the statute defining Schedule II controlled substances did not identify fentanyl as an opiate. Rather, it was unclear whether fentanyl was an opiate or an opioid. 
In overruling the objection, the trial court also ruled that Mr. Gibbs received notice because Ms. West’s “CV clearly indicates that she is – would qualify as an expert in forensic chemistry.” (Tp 235) “It is well settled that ‘the purpose of discovery under our statutes is to protect the defendant from unfair surprise by the introduction of evidence he cannot anticipate.’” Davis, 368 N.C. at 798, 785 S.E.2d at 315 TA \l "Davis, 368 N.C. at 798, 785 S.E.2d at 315" \s "Davis, 368 N.C. at 798, 785 S.E.2d at 315" \c 1  (citation omitted). In Davis, our Supreme Court held the State’s provision of “curricula vitae were not sufficient to prevent ‘unfair surprise.’” Id. at 809, 785 S.E.2d at 321 TA \l "Id. at 809, 785 S.E.2d at 321" \s "Id. at 809, 785 S.E.2d at 321" \c 1 . Specifically, “there was nothing to alert [the] defendant that the witnesses would give opinions about child sexual abuse victims in general and no preview of what those opinions would be.” Id. Similarly, nothing in Ms. West’s CV alerted Mr. Gibbs that she would opine about whether fentanyl was an opiate. Thus, the State’s provision of Ms. West’s CV did not “prevent ‘unfair surprise.’” Id.
C. The trial court’s ruling that the State did not violate the discovery statutes and its admission of expert testimony that fentanyl was an opiate severely prejudiced Mr. Gibbs.
The trial court’s ruling severely prejudiced Mr. Gibbs and should result in a new trial because he “was not provided sufficient notice that the State would be presenting any expert witnesses to testify concerning” whether fentanyl was an opiate. Blankenship, 178 N.C. App. at 356, 631 S.E.2d at 212 TA \l "Blankenship, 178 N.C. App. at 356, 631 S.E.2d at 212" \s "Blankenship, 178 N.C. App. at 356, 631 S.E.2d at 212" \c 1 . As defense counsel argued, if the State had given notice that it would present expert testimony that fentanyl was an opiate, the defense could have gotten its own expert to refute that testimony. (Tpp 210-11) The State conceded, “There’s a split amongst the scientific community regarding the language ‘opioids’ and ‘opiates[,]’” and some scientists referred to opiates as naturally occurring substances and opioids as synthetic materials, while others used the terms “interchangeably[.]” (Tp 11) Even Ms. West conceded on voir dire that the classification of substances as opiates or opioids “has gotten very muddy over time.” (Tp 216) But without notice before trial, the defense had no opportunity to retain, prepare, and present its own expert.
The trial court’s error also prejudiced Mr. Gibbs, and amounted to plain error, because without testimony that fentanyl was an opiate, the trial court likely would have granted Mr. Gibbs’s motion to dismiss or the jury would have acquitted. As defense counsel argued, whether fentanyl was an opiate or an opioid was “the central issue to the determination of this case.” (Rp 29) At the time of the offense, 7 April 2018, the trafficking statute only prohibited possession of “opium or opiate[.]” N.C.G.S. §90-95(h)(4) (2017) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §90-95(h)(4) (2017)" \s "N.C.G.S. §90-95(h)(4) (2017)" \c 2 . Only later did the General Assembly amend the statute, effective 1 December 2018, to prohibit possession of “opium, opiate, or opioid[.]” 2018 N.C. Sess. Laws 44, ss. 7, 17 TA \l "2018 N.C. Sess. Laws 44, ss. 7, 17" \s "2018 N.C. Sess. Laws 44, ss. 7, 17" \c 2  (emphasis added). Thus, the State had to show that Mr. Gibbs possessed an opiate, not an opioid, to convict Mr. Gibbs. If fentanyl was not an opiate, Mr. Gibbs should have been acquitted.
Even the trial court stated, prior to trial, that it would only let the case go to the jury if the expert testified the substance was an opiate or an opiate derivative. (Tp 18) However, even if the trial court had denied a motion to dismiss, the jury likely would have acquitted Mr. Gibbs absent testimony that fentanyl was an opiate. The State indicted Mr. Gibbs for trafficking in “opiates” (Rp 12), and “‘[i]t is a rule of universal observance in the administration of criminal law that a defendant must be convicted, if convicted at all, of the particular offense charged in the bill of indictment.’” State v. Barnett, 368 N.C. 710, 713, 782 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2016) TA \l "State v. Barnett, 368 N.C. 710, 713, 782 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2016)" \s "State v. Barnett, 368 N.C. 710, 713, 782 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2016)" \c 1  (citation omitted). The trial court therefore charged the jury it must find Mr. Gibbs “knowingly possessed a mixture containing an opiate” and “that the amount of the mixture containing the opiate which the defendant possessed was 4 or more grams but less than 14 grams.” (Rpp 53-54; Tpp 377-78) If the State had failed to present testimony that fentanyl was an opiate, the jury likely would have acquitted Mr. Gibbs. Mr. Gibbs should therefore receive a new trial for trafficking in opiates.
II. The trial court abused its discretion by ruling Ms. West was qualified to testify fentanyl was an opiate.

Ms. West admitted she was not a doctor, did not know about “the receptor sites that the opiates … are shown to attack[,]” could not speak to the addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability of opiates or the effects of synthetic drugs, had not received training “about addiction-forming or sustaining liability[,]” and had never been tendered or accepted as an expert in that area. (Tpp 221-22, 280) Yet, the trial court ruled Ms. West was qualified to testify fentanyl was an opiate. The trial court abused its discretion, and prejudiced Mr. Gibbs, which should result in a new trial. 
A. Mr. Gibbs repeatedly argued Ms. West was not qualified to testify fentanyl was an opiate, thereby preserving this issue for appeal.
During voir dire, Ms. West testified that fentanyl met the definition of opiate in N.C.G.S. §90-87(18) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §90-87(18)" \s "N.C.G.S. §90-87(18)" \c 2 , as “any substance having an addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability similar to morphine or being capable of conversion into a drug having addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability.” (Tp 220) However, she testified, “As part of the training, the receptor sites that the opiates or certain compounds are shown to attack are gone over. I don’t have specifics about those sorts of things.” She also admitted she could not speak to the addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability of opiates or the effects of synthetic drugs. Ms. West also testified, “I’m not a doctor[,]” and “throughout the training, there are all kinds of things discussing potency, discussing things such as that. There’s nothing specifically that talks about addiction forming or sustaining liability in those words.” She further testified she had never been tendered or accepted as an expert regarding addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liabilities similar to morphine. (Tpp 221-22, 280)
Defense counsel argued that because Ms. West could not testify that fentanyl had addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability similar to morphine, “she must be prohibited from offering any conclusory opinion that fentanyl is an opiate as such testimony is not based on any [‘]scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge’, and does not qualify as expert testimony. See §8C-1, Rule 702.” (Rpp 33-34; Tpp 229-32) 
The trial court ruled that Ms. West was qualified to testify as to whether fentanyl was an opiate. (Tp 240) The State then tendered her in front of the jury as an “expert in forensic chemistry specializing in chemical analysis of controlled substances[,]” and defense counsel renewed his objection, which the trial court overruled. (Tp 243) Thus, Mr. Gibbs’s “objection was timely made, renewed and preserved for appellate review.” State v. Phillips, 836 S.E.2d 866, 873 (N.C. Ct. App. 2019) TA \l "State v. Phillips, 836 S.E.2d 866, 873 (N.C. Ct. App. 2019)" \s "State v. Phillips, 836 S.E.2d 866, 873 (N.C. Ct. App. 2019)" \c 1 . 

Mr. Gibbs’s objection was also preserved under N.C.G.S. §15A-1446(d)(9) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §15A-1446(d)(9)" \s "N.C.G.S. §15A-1446(d)(9)" \c 2  and N.C.G.S. §8C-1, Rule 103(a)(2) TA \s "N.C.G.S. §8C-1, Rule 103(a)(2)" . These statutes do not conflict with N.C. R. App. P. 10(a)(1) TA \s "N.C. R. App. P. 10(a)(1)" , which provides that an issue “which by rule or law was deemed preserved or taken without any such action … may be made the basis of an issue presented on appeal.” Decisions holding that Rule 103(a)(2) conflicts with Rule 10(a)(1), like State v. Oglesby, 361 N.C. 550, 648 S.E.2d 819 (2007) TA \s "State v. Oglesby, 361 N.C. 550, 648 S.E.2d 819 (2007)" , are distinguishable because they did not address this argument that “the Supreme Court, via its Appellate Rules, has expressly permitted the General Assembly to enact ‘rules or laws’ that automatically preserve such errors for review on appeal.” 1-4 North Carolina Appellate Practice and Procedure § 4.05 (2018) TA \s "1-4 North Carolina Appellate Practice and Procedure § 4.05 (2018)" . 
However, if this Court determines Mr. Gibbs did not adequately renew his qualification objection, admission of Ms. West’s testimony amounted to plain error.

B. The trial court abused its discretion by ruling Ms. West was qualified to testify fentanyl was an opiate.


All expert witnesses “must be ‘qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education.’” State v. McGrady, 368 N.C. 880, 889, 787 S.E.2d 1, 9 (2016) TA \l "State v. McGrady, 368 N.C. 880, 889, 787 S.E.2d 1, 9 (2016)" \s "State v. McGrady, 368 N.C. 880, 889, 787 S.E.2d 1, 9 (2016)" \c 1  (quoting N.C.G.S. §8C-1, Rule 702(a) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §8C-1, Rule 702(a)" \s "N.C.G.S. §8C-1, Rule 702(a)" \c 2 ). “Whatever the source of the witness’s knowledge, the question remains the same: Does the witness have enough expertise to be in a better position than the trier of fact to have an opinion on the subject?” Id. “‘Caution should be exercised in assuring that the subject matter of the expert witness’s testimony relates to the expertise the witness brings to the courtroom.’” State v. Ward, 364 N.C. 133, 146 n.5, 694 S.E.2d 738, 746 n.5 (2010) TA \l "State v. Ward, 364 N.C. 133, 146 n.5, 694 S.E.2d 738, 746 n.5 (2010)" \s "State v. Ward, 364 N.C. 133, 146 n.5, 694 S.E.2d 738, 746 n.5 (2010)" \c 1  (quoting Walker Jameson Blakely et al., North Carolina Evidence: 2010 Courtroom Manual 241 (2010) TA \l "Walker Jameson Blakely et al., North Carolina Evidence: 2010 Courtroom Manual 241 (2010)" \s "Walker Jameson Blakely et al., North Carolina Evidence: 2010 Courtroom Manual 241 (2010)" \c 3 ).

In Ward, the State’s expert in forensic chemistry, Special Agent Allcox, testified “regarding substances which he identified merely by visual inspection and reference to the Micromedex literature.” Id. at 138, 694 S.E.2d at 741 TA \l "Id. at 138, 694 S.E.2d at 741" \s "Id. at 138, 694 S.E.2d at 741" \c 1 . Our Supreme Court noted that “although Special Agent Allcox’s background is impressive in the field of analytical chemistry, he stated that he lacks a pharmaceutical degree or specialized training in pharmaceuticals.” Id. at 146 n.5, 694 S.E.2d at 746 n.5 TA \l "Id. at 146 n.5, 694 S.E.2d at 746 n.5" \s "Id. at 146 n.5, 694 S.E.2d at 746 n.5" \c 1 . Thus,
Beyond his routine use of Micromedex literature to visually identify substances, there is little indication in the record that Special Agent Allcox was better qualified to visually identify a tablet than the average juror with ordinary perceptive abilities who, if called upon, could compare a tablet to a photograph and other descriptive literature.

Id.

Similarly, in State v. Goodwin, 320 N.C. 147, 357 S.E.2d 639 (1987) TA \l "State v. Goodwin, 320 N.C. 147, 357 S.E.2d 639 (1987)" \s "State v. Goodwin, 320 N.C. 147, 357 S.E.2d 639 (1987)" \c 1 , the trial court allowed the State’s expert in licensed clinical social work to describe post traumatic stress syndrome and testify that the alleged victim was suffering from it. Id. at 150, 357 S.E.2d at 640 TA \l "Id. at 150, 357 S.E.2d at 640" \s "Id. at 150, 357 S.E.2d at 640" \c 1 . Our Supreme Court held that “the questions posed and answers given in qualifying the witness as an expert in the field of clinical social work failed to establish that the witness had any particularized training or experience relating to post traumatic stress disorder.” Id. at 151, 357 S.E.2d at 641 TA \l "Id. at 151, 357 S.E.2d at 641" \s "Id. at 151, 357 S.E.2d at 641" \c 1 . Therefore, the Court held “the testimony was improperly admitted here because the State failed to lay a sufficient foundation to establish that the witness was qualified to offer it.” Id.

As in Ward and Goodwin, Ms. West admitted her limitations by testifying, “I’m not a doctor[.]” She also admitted she did not know any specific information about “the receptor sites that the opiates or certain compounds are shown to attack[.]” Moreover, she testified she could not testify to the effects of synthetic drugs, had not received any training “about addiction-forming or sustaining liability,” and had never been tendered or accepted as an expert in that area. (Tpp 221-22) Thus, as in Goodwin, “the questions posed and answers given in qualifying the witness as an expert in the field of [forensic chemistry] failed to establish that the witness had any particularized training or experience relating to” whether a substance like fentanyl, a synthetic drug, was an opiate. Goodwin, 320 N.C. at 151, 357 S.E.2d at 641 TA \l "Goodwin, 320 N.C. at 151, 357 S.E.2d at 641" \s "Goodwin, 320 N.C. at 151, 357 S.E.2d at 641" \c 1 . In other words, “the subject matter of the expert witness’s testimony” did not “relate[] to the expertise the witness brings to the courtroom.” Ward, 364 N.C. at 146 n.5, 694 S.E.2d at 746 n.5 (quotation marks and citation omitted) TA \l "Ward, 364 N.C. at 146 n.5, 694 S.E.2d at 746 n.5" \s "Ward, 364 N.C. at 146 n.5, 694 S.E.2d at 746 n.5" \c 1 . Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion by ruling that Ms. West was qualified to testify fentanyl was an opiate.
C. The trial court’s ruling that Ms. West was qualified to testify fentanyl was an opiate severely prejudiced Mr. Gibbs.
The trial court’s error prejudiced Mr. Gibbs and amounted to plain error for the reasons argued in Issue I, which are incorporated here by reference. Without testimony that fentanyl was an opiate, the trial court likely would have granted Mr. Gibbs’s motion to dismiss or the jury would have acquitted. Moreover, because Ms. West was otherwise eminently qualified as a forensic chemist, “her opinion likely held significant weight with the jury.” State v. Ryan, 223 N.C. App. 325, 338, 734 S.E.2d 598, 607 (2012) TA \l "State v. Ryan, 223 N.C. App. 325, 338, 734 S.E.2d 598, 607 (2012)" \s "State v. Ryan, 223 N.C. App. 325, 338, 734 S.E.2d 598, 607 (2012)" \c 1 . Mr. Gibbs should therefore receive a new trial for trafficking in opiates.


III. The trial court plainly erred by allowing Ms. West to testify fentanyl was an opiate where her opinion was unreliable.
Ms. West testified fentanyl met the statutory definition of an opiate, but admitted she had no specific information about “the receptor sites that the opiates … are shown to attack” and could not speak to the addition-forming or addiction-sustaining liability of opiates or the effects of synthetic drugs. She also had not received training “about addiction-forming or sustaining liability” and had never been tendered or accepted as an expert in that area. (Tpp 220-22, 280) Ms. West’s testimony was therefore unreliable and inadmissible under Rule 702. The trial court plainly erred by allowing Ms. West to testify fentanyl was an opiate. 
Under Rule 702(a) TA \l "Rule 702(a)" \s "Rule 702(a)" \c 4 , expert testimony must satisfy a three-pronged reliability test: “(1) The testimony must be based upon sufficient facts or data. (2) The testimony must be the product of reliable principles and methods. (3) The witness must have applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.” State v. McGrady, 368 N.C. 880, 890, 787 S.E.2d 1, 9 (2016) TA \l "State v. McGrady, 368 N.C. 880, 890, 787 S.E.2d 1, 9 (2016)" \s "State v. McGrady, 368 N.C. 880, 890, 787 S.E.2d 1, 9 (2016)" \c 1  (quoting N.C.G.S. §8C-1, Rule 702(a)(1)-(3) TA \l "N.C.G.S. §8C-1, Rule 702(a)(1)-(3)" \s "N.C.G.S. §8C-1, Rule 702(a)(1)-(3)" \c 4 ). 

In State v. Corbett, 839 S.E.2d 361 (N.C. Ct. App. 2019), stay allowed, 374 N.C. 262, 838 S.E.2d 461 (2020) TA \l "State v. Corbett, 839 S.E.2d 361 (N.C. Ct. App. 2019), stay allowed, 374 N.C. 262, 838 S.E.2d 461 (2020)" \s "State v. Corbett, 839 S.E.2d 361 (N.C. Ct. App. 2019), stay allowed, 374 N.C. 262, 838 S.E.2d 461 (2020)" \c 1 , the State’s expert admitted that to conduct bloodstain pattern analysis, stains should first “be subject to presumptive, confirmatory, and DNA testing[.]” Id. at 396 TA \l "Id. at 396" \s "Id. at 396" \c 1 . Yet, the State’s expert testified to conclusions from his bloodstain pattern analysis on stains from the defendants’ clothes “despite the State’s failure to submit those stains for even the most basic testing for the presence of blood (presumptive testing).” Id. The expert also conceded “it is the ‘best practice’ for an analyst to view a photograph of the person wearing the blood-spattered clothes[,]” but the State’s expert did not. Id. This Court held the expert’s testimony “was based upon insufficient facts and data, and accordingly, could not have been the product of reliable principles and methods applied reliably to the facts of this case.” Id. at 398 TA \l "Id. at 398" \s "Id. at 398" \c 1 .
Similarly, in State v. Phillips, 836 S.E.2d 866 (N.C. Ct. App. 2019) TA \s "State v. Phillips, 836 S.E.2d 866 (N.C. Ct. App. 2019)" , the State’s expert testified that when a DNA profile “is inconclusive, ‘you cannot include someone as a possible source of DNA and you also cannot exclude them as a possible source of DNA.’” Id. at 870. The expert further testified that she could not compare individual alleles in an inconclusive profile to a known profile “‘because that’s against policy because it’s inconclusive.’” Id. Yet, the expert testified that three of the alleles from an inconclusive profile taken from the alleged victim were different from the alleles in a known DNA profile. Id. at 872 TA \l "Id. at 872" \s "Id. at 872" \c 1 .  
This Court held that by asking the expert to “break with the State Lab’s policy and established scientific procedures and testify to the alleles she could see …, the State asked [the expert] to give expert testimony based upon admittedly insufficient facts or data in violation of the first prong of Rule 702(a).” Id. at 874 TA \l "Id. at 874" \s "Id. at 874" \c 1 . This Court further held “[t]he testimony also violated the second prong of Rule 702(a)” because the expert “disclaimed, repeatedly, that the testimony she was required to give was ‘not scientifically accurate.’” Id. Thus, the expert’s testimony “cannot reasonably be considered the product of reliable principles or methods.” Id. TA \l "Id." \s "Id." \c 1  

Here, “opiate” is defined as a “substance having any addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability similar to morphine or being capable of conversion into a drug having addiction-forming or addiction-sustaining liability.” N.C.G.S. §90-87(18) TA \s "N.C.G.S. §90-87(18)" . Ms. West testified on voir dire that fentanyl met that definition. (Tp 220) However, she testified she had no specific information regarding “the receptor sites that the opiates or certain compounds are shown to attack” and could not speak to the addition-forming or addiction-sustaining liability of opiates or the effects of synthetic drugs.  She also admitted she received no training “about addiction forming or sustaining liability[,]” and had never been tendered or accepted as an expert in that area. (Tpp 221-22) Thus, as in Corbett and Phillips, Ms. West had no reliable basis upon which to opine that fentanyl was an opiate. Ms. West’s testimony was “based upon admittedly insufficient facts or data in violation of the first prong of Rule 702(a)[,]” Phillips, 836 S.E.2d at 874 TA \l "Phillips, 836 S.E.2d at 874" \s "Phillips, 836 S.E.2d at 874" \c 1 , and “could not have been the product of reliable principles and methods applied reliably to the facts of this case.” Corbett, 839 S.E.2d at 398 TA \l "Corbett, 839 S.E.2d at 398" \s "Corbett, 839 S.E.2d at 398" \c 1 .
Although defense counsel did not object on the specific ground that Ms. West’s testimony was unreliable, admission of her opinion that fentanyl was an opiate amounted to plain error for the reasons argued in Issues I and II, which are incorporated here by reference. Without testimony that fentanyl was an opiate, the trial court likely would have granted Mr. Gibbs’s motion to dismiss or the jury would have acquitted. Moreover, because Ms. West was otherwise eminently qualified as a forensic chemist, “her opinion likely held significant weight with the jury” and probably caused the jury to convict. State v. Ryan, 223 N.C. App. 325, 338, 734 S.E.2d 598, 607 (2012) TA \s "State v. Ryan, 223 N.C. App. 325, 338, 734 S.E.2d 598, 607 (2012)" . Mr. Gibbs should therefore receive a new trial for trafficking in opiates.

IV. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Gibbs’s motion to dismiss the charge of resisting, delaying, or obstructing an officer.

The State failed to show the officers had reasonable suspicion to detain Mr. Gibbs where they merely “had a hunch that illegal activity may be occurring.” (Tp 134) Thus, the State failed to prove either officer “was discharging or attempting to discharge a duty of his office[,]” and the trial court erred by denying Mr. Gibbs’s motion to dismiss the charge of resisting, delaying, or obstructing an officer.

To convict Mr. Gibbs of resisting, delaying, or obstructing an officer under N.C.G.S. §14-223 TA \l "N.C.G.S. §14-223" \s "N.C.G.S. §14-223" \c 2 , the State had to prove:
1) that the victim was a public officer;

2) that the defendant knew or had reasonable grounds to believe that the victim was a public officer;

3) that the victim was discharging or attempting to discharge a duty of his office;

4) that the defendant resisted, delayed, or obstructed the victim in discharging or attempting to discharge a duty of his office; and
5) that the defendant acted willfully and unlawfully, that is intentionally and without justification or excuse.

State v. Sinclair, 191 N.C. App. 485, 488-89, 663 S.E.2d 866, 870 (2008) TA \l "State v. Sinclair, 191 N.C. App. 485, 488-89, 663 S.E.2d 866, 870 (2008)" \s "State v. Sinclair, 191 N.C. App. 485, 488-89, 663 S.E.2d 866, 870 (2008)" \c 1  (citations and quotation marks omitted). “The third element of the offense presupposes lawful conduct of the officer in discharging or attempting to discharge a duty of his office.” Id. at 489, 663 S.E.2d at 870 TA \l "Id. at 489, 663 S.E.2d at 870" \s "Id. at 489, 663 S.E.2d at 870" \c 1 . People have a right to resist illegal conduct by police, and “flight from an unlawful stop cannot be used to establish probable cause for an arrest.” In re A.J.M.-B., 212 N.C. App. 586, 590, 713 S.E.2d 104, 108 (2011) TA \l "In re A.J.M.-B., 212 N.C. App. 586, 590, 713 S.E.2d 104, 108 (2011)" \s "In re A.J.M.-B., 212 N.C. App. 586, 590, 713 S.E.2d 104, 108 (2011)" \c 1 . “Before a law enforcement officer can conduct a brief investigatory stop, the officer must have a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity.” Id. (citations and quotations omitted).
In In re A.J.M.-B., TA \l "In re A.J.M.-B.," \s "In re A.J.M.-B.," \c 1  an officer received an anonymous tip that two juveniles had a shotgun or rifle in a field behind a house. The officer went to the field but did not see anyone. The officer then “observed two juveniles ‘pop their heads out of the wood line’ and look at him.” Neither of the juveniles was carrying firearms. Id. at 591-92, 713 S.E.2d at 109 TA \l "Id. at 591-92, 713 S.E.2d at 109" \s "Id. at 591-92, 713 S.E.2d at 109" \c 1 . The officer told them to stop and they ran. The State conceded the officer “was attempting an investigatory stop.” Id. at 590, 713 S.E.2d at 108.
This Court held that “information regarding a specific person possessing a gun, without observing anything suspicious, did not provide reasonable suspicion to justify the frisk of the defendant.” Id. at 592, 713 S.E.2d at 109 TA \l "Id. at 592, 713 S.E.2d at 109" \s "Id. at 592, 713 S.E.2d at 109" \c 1 . This Court also held “the anonymous tip alone, without more evidence, also did not establish reasonable suspicion. Therefore, since the State did not present sufficient specific, articulable facts to warrant the stop, [the juvenile’s] subsequent detention and arrest were not justified.” Accordingly, this Court held “the State presented insufficient evidence that [the officer] acted lawfully ‘in discharging or attempting to discharge a duty of his office[,]’” and reversed the denial of the motion to dismiss the charge of resisting, delaying, or obstructing an officer. Id. at 594 TA \l "Id. at 594" \s "Id. at 594" \c 1 , 713 S.E.2d at 110 (quoting Sinclair, 191 N.C. App. at 489, 663 S.E.2d at 870 TA \l "Sinclair, 191 N.C. App. at 489, 663 S.E.2d at 870" \s "Sinclair, 191 N.C. App. at 489, 663 S.E.2d at 870" \c 1 ).

Here, the officers did not observe any illegal behavior and merely “had a hunch that illegal activity may be occurring.” (Tp 134) An “inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or ‘hunch’” is not enough to support reasonable suspicion. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 28, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889, 909 (1968) TA \l "Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 28, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889, 909 (1968)" \s "Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 28, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889, 909 (1968)" \c 1 . 

The officers never even said which “crime was either being committed or about to be committed[,]” but rather said Mr. Gibbs “was in a high crime area late at night knocking on a door and not gaining access to the door.” (Tpp 140-41) In ruling on the motion to dismiss, the trial court even asked, “What was the reasonable suspicion of?”; “I mean, typically people who are going to break and enter a house don’t go and stand around the porch or knock on the door. That is my problem with the R and D charge.” (Tp 329) Yet, the trial court denied the motion, ruling, “By the time of Count 2, the -- he had already provided a – what the officers at least believed to be a false name and that to me that increases the likelihood of it being suspicious conduct that they were investigating.” (Tp 333) At the close of all the evidence, the defense renewed the motion to dismiss (Tpp 338-40) and the trial court denied it, preserving this issue for appeal. State v. Golder, 374 N.C. 238, 246, 839 S.E.2d 782, 788 (2020) TA \l "State v. Golder, 374 N.C. 238, 246, 839 S.E.2d 782, 788 (2020)" \s "State v. Golder, 374 N.C. 238, 246, 839 S.E.2d 782, 788 (2020)" \c 1 .

The mere facts that Mr. Gibbs was in a high crime area late at night, knocked on a door without gaining access, and the officers thought he gave a false name did not establish reasonable suspicion to detain him. In State v. Hayes, 188 N.C. App. 313, 655 S.E.2d 726 (2008) TA \l "State v. Hayes, 188 N.C. App. 313, 655 S.E.2d 726 (2008)" \s "State v. Hayes, 188 N.C. App. 313, 655 S.E.2d 726 (2008)" \c 1 , an officer saw “Defendant and his companion walk back and forth on the sidewalk” in an “area where drug-related arrests had been made in the past[,]” and the officer saw a gun under the seat of the defendant’s companion “in the car defendant and his companion had recently exited[.]” Id. at 315, 655 S.E.2d at 728 TA \l "Id. at 315, 655 S.E.2d at 728" \s "Id. at 315, 655 S.E.2d at 728" \c 1 . Yet, this Court held it was “clear that the officer could not point to articulable facts giving rise to a reasonable suspicion that a crime was taking place.” Id. at 316, 655 S.E.2d at 728 TA \l "Id. at 316, 655 S.E.2d at 728" \s "Id. at 316, 655 S.E.2d at 728" \c 1 . 

In State v. Rhyne, 124 N.C. App. 84, 478 S.E.2d 789 (1996) TA \l "State v. Rhyne, 124 N.C. App. 84, 478 S.E.2d 789 (1996)" \s "State v. Rhyne, 124 N.C. App. 84, 478 S.E.2d 789 (1996)" \c 1 , officers responded to an anonymous call that several black males were selling drugs in a breezeway, a “high drug activity area.” The officers then saw the defendant, who was nervous but cooperative, in the breezeway and the defendant refused the officers’ request to search him and conduct a dog sniff. This Court held the officers lacked reasonable suspicion. Id. at 90-91, 478 S.E.2d at 793 TA \l "Id. at 90-91, 478 S.E.2d at 793" \s "Id. at 90-91, 478 S.E.2d at 793" \c 1 .
Here, the officers did not observe any illegal behavior, but merely had a “hunch that illegal activity may be occurring[,]” (Tp 134) and Mr. Gibbs was calm and did not try to flee. (Tpp 139-40) Just because it was a “high crime area late at night” and the officers thought Mr. Gibbs gave a false name did not establish reasonable suspicion to detain him. Hayes, 188 N.C. App. at 316, 655 S.E.2d at 728 TA \l "Hayes, 188 N.C. App. at 316, 655 S.E.2d at 728" \s "Hayes, 188 N.C. App. at 316, 655 S.E.2d at 728" \c 1 ; Rhyne, 124 N.C. App. at 90-91, 478 S.E.2d at 793 TA \l "Rhyne, 124 N.C. App. at 90-91, 478 S.E.2d at 793" \s "Rhyne, 124 N.C. App. at 90-91, 478 S.E.2d at 793" \c 1 . Accordingly, “the State presented insufficient evidence that [the officer] acted lawfully ‘in discharging or attempting to discharge a duty of his office[,]’” and this Court should reverse the denial of the motion to dismiss. In re A.J.M.-B., 212 N.C. App. at 594, 713 S.E.2d at 110 TA \l "In re A.J.M.-B., 212 N.C. App. at 594, 713 S.E.2d at 110" \s "In re A.J.M.-B., 212 N.C. App. at 594, 713 S.E.2d at 110" \c 1  (quoting Sinclair, 191 N.C. App. at 489, 663 S.E.2d at 870 TA \s "Sinclair, 191 N.C. App. at 489, 663 S.E.2d at 870" ).


CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons and authorities, Mr. Gibbs respectfully requests this Court to reverse and remand his trafficking conviction for a new trial and vacate his conviction for resisting, delaying, or obstructing an officer.   
Respectfully submitted, this the 9th day of November 2020.
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� For example, Johns Hopkins Medicine defines “opiates” as “Natural substances, including opium and heroin, derived from the unripe seed pods of the opium poppy… Opiates include opium derivatives morphine and codeine[,]” “opioids” as “Products that dull pain and produce feelings of bliss by binding to the same brain receptors as opiates, but are synthetic, meaning they do not occur naturally[,]” and “Fentanyl” as “A fully synthetic opioid[.]” Johns Hopkins Medicine, Glossary of Terms, 2/12/2018, available at � HYPERLINK "https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/news/articles/glossary-of-terms" �https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/news/articles/glossary-of-terms� (last visited 4 November 2020)� TA \l "Johns Hopkins Medicine, Glossary of Terms, 2/12/2018, available at https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/news/articles/glossary-of-terms (last visited 4 November 2020)" \s "Johns Hopkins Medicine, Glossary of Terms, 2/12/2018, available at https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/news/articles/glossary-of-terms (last visited 4 November 2020)" \c 3 �. 








